I. Introduction 

The main issue in this case is whether or not a real estate appraiser 

can be held liable for issuing appraisals that fall beneath the standard of 

care, when those appraisals are used to solicit investors into buying the 

land appraised at significantly more than the land is worth. In particular 

here, the Appraisal Defendants issued an appraisal with an opinion of 

$4,500,000 value on 51 acres that Mr. Jeffreys had under contract for 

$475,000. This appraisal was discussed with certain investors, who 

became members of RockRock Group, LLC; RockRock Group, LLC was 

assigned Mr. Jeffreys contract; and RockRock Group, LLC paid 

$1,630,000 for seventy·five percent (75%) of the land ($475,000 to finish 

the contract of Mr. Jeffreys and the rest as a profit to Mr. Jeffreys). Seven 

days after the closing of this transaction, the Appraisal Defendants issued 

a $4,250,000 on the adjacent 39 acres, which Mr. Jeffreys had under 

contract for $300,000, and the same transaction occurred for RussellRock 

Group, LLC. 

The appraisals issued by the Appraisal Defendants contain gross 

inaccuracies. Just a three examples of these are (1) that Mr. Jeffreys 

purchased the full 90 acres, both pieces of property, for $1,800,000, when 

in reality he had a right to buy both properties for $775,000; (2) that the 

properties, which were 5-20% light industrial land (the rest was rural 
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traditional land allowing for 1 house per every 10 acres), should be 

properly compared to sales of pure light industrial or mixed used land; and 

(3) that a letter of intent by a church for 20 unidentified acres put the value 

of the land at $2.15, when that was solely Mr. Jeffreys statement of what 

he thought he could get, and the letter of intent reflected at most $1.55 a 

square foot with contingencies. The Appellants have retained an expert 

who speaks to these appraisals failing to meet the standard of care for an 

appraiser. The Appraisal Defendants (hereafter "Respondents") have 

produced no experts. 

This case came before Judge Eitzen on a summary judgment 

motion that the Appellants could not meet their burden of proof at trial. 

The general order is that the Appellants cannot meet the burden of proof at 

trial. In review of the two hearings on this the Appellants believe this 

court will agree that the major reason for dismissal was the ''justifiable 

reliance" issue of appraiser negligence and causation for negligence in 

general. In particular the manager of the entities testified that he did not 

pay attention to the appraisals when he entered the transactions. As a 

manager managed LLC Judge Eitzen agreed with the Respondents that no 

reliance existed. However, members of the entities, including some of the 

most fmancial sound members, testified they knew of the appraisals and 

those appraisals were key to their investment. 
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Appellants urge this court to deny summary judgment against the 

Respondents, and to allow this case to go to trial so the jury can decide the 

issues of whether or not the Respondents should be liable for issuing 

negligent appraisals that furthered a fraud. I 

II. Assignment of Error 

Appellants assign error to the following items: 

1. That there are no genuine issues of material fact regarding 

Appellants claims of real estate appraiser negligence! negligent 

misrepresentation. 

2. That there are no genuine issues of material fact regarding 

Appellants claims of negligence. 

3. That there are no genuine issues of material fact regarding 

Appellants consumer protection act claims. 

4. The burden of proof in real estate appraiser negligence is the 

same as the burden of proof in pure negligent misrepresentation, clear, 

cogent and convincing evidence. 

5. Appellants have addressed the cross claim of the statute of 

limitations, but do not assign error to this since they agree that the trial 

1 Appellants do not use fraud lightly, and while not in front of the trial court at that time, 
Mr. Jeffreys has pled guilty to bank fraud related to these appraisals, thus the usage in the 
introduction. 
2 We apologize to the court for the confusing names involved in this case. The names 
were chosen by others and have been kept as they are referred to throughout the evidence 
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court was correct in its finding that the statute of limitations had 110t run. 

III. Statement of Case 

This suit involves two parcels of adjacent land that make up 90 

acres in the West Plains of Spokane, Washington. These two parcels were 

appraised by the Respondents and purchased by the Appellants. The land 

involved is as follows: 

Sundevil Land:2 This is the east 39 acres of the 90 acres involved 

in this matter. It is along an access road from Highway 2 in the west 

plains of Spokane County. It is zoned approximately 4.5 acres Light 

Industrial (LI) and 34.85 acres ofRural Traditional (RT). CP 590 

Rothrock Land: This is the west 51 acres of the 90 acres 

involved. It is adjacent to the Sundevil land and also borders an access 

road from Highway 2 in the West Plains of Spokane County. It is zoned 

approximately 15.02 acres Light Industrial (LI) and 36.63 acres of Rural 

Traditional (RT) land. CP 600. 

Transactions that form the basis of the claims 

In August of 2006 Mr. Jeffreys entered into negotiations to 

purchase, through his company Sundevil Development, LLC (hereafter 

"Sundevil"), 90 acres on the West plains from Rocky Rothrock and groups 

2 We apologize to the court for the confusing names involved in this case. The names 
were chosen by others and have been kept as they are referred to throughout the evidence 
so as to preserve continuity. A quick glossary table has been attached to this brief to help 
with the names. It is not evidence to be relied upon but rather meant to be helpful. 
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he represented. The 51 west acres were owned by a group of people, 

including a trust owning a portion of the land. CP 226. The east 39 acres 

was owned solely by Rocky Rothrock. CP 234. 

On September 20, 2006 Sundevil finalized a purchase and sale 

agreement for the 51 west acres, identified above as the Rothrock Land. 

This finalization came when the institutional trustee for the Porter Trust, 

Washington Trust Bank, signed the sale agreement. This was to close on 

or before December 1, 2006 and was for the purchase price of $475,000. 

CP 218-227. 

On September 25, 2006 Sundevil finalized the purchase and sale 

agreement for the 39 east acres, identified above as the Sundevil Land. 

This was to close on or before December 1, 2006 and was to be a cash 

payment of $300,000. CP 229-234. 

On September 28, 2006 Ms. Benson of Value Logic, LLC visited 

the 90 acres of land with Mr. Jeffreys. CP 237. It was this visit that is 

referenced in the appraisal and is the basis for the opinion of value in the 

appraisals being as of September 28,2006. CP 235-264; 604; 680. 

Also on September 28, 2006 Mr. Largent and Mr. Miller, members 

of the Appellants, visited the land based on their previous discussions with 

Mr. Jeffreys. Mr. Largent has testified that he overheard Mr. Jeffreys on a 

telephone call with RiverBank, the bank lender in these transactions, 
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telling RiverBank that ValueLogic should be used to appraise the land. 

CP 680-686. 

On September 29, 2006 RiverBank faxed an appraisal engagement 

agreement to ValueLogic (at that time it was called All American 

Appraisals) for the Rothrock Land (51 acres). Ms. Benson has testified 

that there was similar fax on the Sundevil Land, but none has ever been 

produced in discovery. CP 211-213; 604. 

During this time Mr. Main, a realtor and friend of Mr. Jeffreys, and 

Mr. Jeffreys solicited investors to purchase the Rothrock Land. The 

proposal was that the investors would join a group that would purchase a 

seventy-five percent (75%) interest in the land for $1,630,000. A 

prospectus stated that the "[e]stimated current value of the land is $2.00 

per square foot." CP 664-669; 682. 

On October 2, 2006 Sundevil did a purchase and sale agreement 

with Mr. Main, where Mr. Main would purchase seventy-five percent 

(75%) of the Rothrock Land for $1,630,000. This agreement does not 

discuss Sundevil's purchase price of $475,000. CP 270-273. 

Between October 3, 2006 and closing the entity RockRock Group, 

LLC (originally supposed to be Rothrock Group, LLC) was formed and 

put together. It was filed with the secretary of state on October 3, 2006 

but the documents for membership agreement and other governing 

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF- 10 



documents were signed at different times by different members during this 

time. CP276; 300-303. The sole purpose of RockRock Group, LLC was 

for the investment in land. It was manager managed, with its manager 

being Bart Johnson. CP 276; 279. 

On October 10,2006 Value Logic submitted an appraisal report to 

RiverBank with an opinion of value on the Rothrock Land of $4,500,000, 

or $2.00 per square foot. The appraisal states that it is for "[fjinancing 

purposes and to facilitate a sale." CP 241. Mr. Savage testified that 

before issuing this appraisal he called another appraiser and land use 

planner, Mr. Sweitzer and confirmed that the price of $2.00 a square foot 

was not unreasonable to him. CP 724. 

On October 17, 2006 the attorney for RockRock Group received a 

letter from the Mr. Rothrock stating an evaluation appraisal had been done 

by Mr. Sweitzer on the Rothrock Land. Based upon that evaluation the 

Porter Trust was demanding $13,776 per acre as a reasonable price. CP 

624-625. 

Before closing Mr. Main called at least two investors and told them 

the appraised value of the property. Mrs. Hubbell, the manager of Stan & 

Hubbs, LLC (a member of RockRock Group, LLC) has submitted a 

declaration that she was told the land had been appraised at $4,500,000. 

She even wrote this on the prospectus at the time, a copy of which was 
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submitted with the declaration. CP 664-669. Mr. Largent has testified that 

he was told that it had appraised as expected, at over $4 million. CP 687. 

Closing for the Rothrock Land occurred upon November 9, 2006. 

In closing Mr. Main's purchase and sale agreement was assigned to 

RockRock Group, LLC. CP 311; 326-328. RockRock Group took out a 

loan for over $1,025,000 from RiverBank, and $800,000 from Sundevil to 

purchase seventy-five percent of the Rothrock land. CP 307-309; 330-332. 

To secure the loans every member personally guarantied the loan, and the 

property was put up as collateral. CP 307-309; 331. 

Shortly after the closing on the Rothrock Land, November 15, 

2006, RussellRock Group, LLC was formed for the purpose of purchasing 

the Sundevil Land. CP 336; 342. It followed a very similar process as the 

sale of the Rothrock Land to RockRock Group, and even contained the 

same manager of Bart Johnson. CP 381-385; 387; 389; 391-393; 395-397. 

There are a few variations though in how it was put together. 

Value Logic issued the appraisal on the Sundevil Land on 

November 16,2006 with an effective date of September 28, 2006. CP 252. 

The opinion is that the land is worth $2.50 per square foot for a value of 

$4,250,000. CP 253. Ms. Benson stated the reason that the Sundevil Land 

was valued $0.50 more per square foot was because it was a smaller 

parcel. CP 719-720. The appraisal states it was issued for "[fJinanicng 
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purposes and to facilitate a sale." CP 256. 

In December of 2006 certain investors had a meeting at Mr. 

Jeffreys home where they discussed the transaction. Included in this 

meeting were discussions about the appraisal on the Sundevil Land. CP 

635-637; 670-671. 

In January of 2007 the parties closed on the Sundevil Land. Much 

like the previous transaction, RussellRock took out $990,000 in loans from 

RiverBank and $800,000 in loans from Sundevil in order to purchase 

seventy-five percent (75%) of the Sundevil Land. CP 391-393; 395-397 

The loans were guarantied by the personal guaranties of the members 

along with the land. Id 

Prior to closing Mr. Cummins, who invested in RussellRock Group 

through his company, asked the attorney for RussellRock Group to send a 

copy of the appraisal with the closing paperwork. CP 635-637. The 

appraisal letter, showing it was appraised at $4,250,000 was sent out to the 

members via e-mail. CP 467-468. 

The Plaintiffs held these pieces of land for several years hoping 

they could sell them, but with no avail. Because the loans were short term 

the Plaintiffs needed to get their loans with RiverBank or go through 

financing with another bank. In September of 2009 Value Logic again 

was retained to appraise the 90 acres. CP 627-632. 
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In the 2009 appraisals Value Logic determined that the value of the 

land for both parcels, Sundevil Land as well as Rothrock Land, had fallen 

to $1.50 a square foot. This gave the Rothrock Land a value of 

$3,375,000, and the Sundevil Land a value of $2,550,000. Id Ms. Benson 

stated in her deposition that the sole reason for the drop in value was the 

downturn in the real estate market. CP 721. 

On November 3, 2009 Riverbank had an internal review of the 

Value Logic 2009 appraisals. CP 634. The internal review found the 2009 

appraisals to be insufficient because most of the land was zoned R T and 

the comparative properties used to evaluate the land were mostly light 

industrial. Id RiverBank contacted Mr. Jeffreys with the problem to see 

how these could be resolved. Id. 

In November of 2009 Mr. Jeffreys contacted Mr. Cummins and 

offered to sell Mr. Cummins the note he was carrying on the Sundevil 

Land. Mr. Cummins thought the offer to sell the note was too cheap and 

began to be suspicious of the transaction. This prompted Mr. Cummins 

and other investors from California to start a personal suit against Mr. 

Jeffreys and his entities. CP 635-637. 

Three months later RiverBank had the land re-appraised by 

someone other than Value Logic. That appraisal determined the light 

industrial portions of the land were worth $1.50 a square foot, or the same 
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as Value Logic's total, but that the rural traditional portions were worth 

$6,500 per acre (approximately $0.15 per foot). CP 600; 590. At that time 

the Rothrock Land was appraised at $1,220,000 and the Sundevil Land at 

$520,000. CP 597; 590. 

This suit was started and filed on June 16, 2011. CP 1-3. The 

Appraisal Defendants, were dismissed on summary judgment on January 

24,2013. CP 897-899. The case continued against the other Defendants 

involved in this matter until final judgment was issued on June 13, 2014. 

CP 902-905. 

IV. Argument 

Motions for summary judgment are reviewed de novo. The 

appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. Summary 

judgment is appropriate only if there is no genuine issue of material fact, 

and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. A motion 

for summary judgment should only be granted if after reviewing the 

evidence reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion. Hubbard v. 

Spokane County, 146 Wn.2d 699, 706-707 (2002), citations omitted. In 

engaging in a summary judgment review a court must consider all facts 

and any reasonable inference in the light most favorable to the non

moving party. Id. 

This argument shall be setup to (A) first to show the Plaintiffs have 
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sufficient facts for their three claims of (1) real estate appraiser 

negligence/ negligent misrepresentation, (2) consumer protection act, and 

(3) negligence. The second section (B) shall address the statute of 

limitations argument raised in cross appeal by the Respondents. The last 

section (C) will address the burden of proof standard as it relates to real 

estate appraiser negligence and negligent misrepresentation. 

A. Plaintiffs have sufficient facts to meet their burden of proof 

on their claims 

In reviewing the sufficiency of facts a court must consider all facts 

and any reasonable inference in the light most favorable to the non

moving party. Id. Plaintiffs have sufficient evidence of (1) real estate 

appraiser negligence/ negligent misrepresentation, (2) consumer protection 

act violations, and (3) negligence. 

1. Real estate appraiser negligencel negligent 

misrepresentation 

In Schaaf v. Highfield our supreme court declared that real estate 

appraisers are liable to "those involved in the transaction that triggered the 

appraisal report, including but not limited to, the buyer and seller. Schaaf 

v. Highfield, 127 Wn.2d 17, 27 (1995). This liability was pursuant to 

REST A TEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 552. Id. Our Supreme Court 

has defined Schaafas the case that created real estate appraiser negligence 
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as a separate tort from negligent misrepresentation. Easflvood v. Horse 

Harbor Foundation, 170 Wn.2d 380,388 (2010). 

RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 552 contains two 

sections. Section 1 lays out the elements establishing liability, and section 

2 lays out to whom a person can be liable. Schaaf, 127 Wn.2d at 23. 

Three years after Schaaf the ESCA Corp. court, in a non-real estate 

appraiser negligence case, approved jury instructions stating six elements 

of negligent misrepresentation, one of which went to section 2 of § 552, to 

whom you are liable. ESCA Corp. v. KP MG Peat Marwick, 138 Wn.2d 

820, 827-828 (1998). The element that goes to RESTATEMENT 

(SECOND) OF TORTS § 552(2) is that the defendant knew or should 

have known the information was supplied to guide the plaintiff. [d. The 

Easflvood court defined ESCA Corp. as negligent misrepresentation in 

contrast to real estate appraiser negligence as laid out in Schaaf 

Easflvood, 170 Wn.2d at 388. The Schaaf court heavily analyzed 

RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 552(2) and held that as a 

matter of law, for real estate appraisers it was defined as those involved in 

the transaction that triggered the appraisal, and extended no further. 

Schaaf, 127 Wn.2d at 27. 

It is the position of the Appellants, based upon Schaaf, that 

negligent real estate appraisal encompasses the RESTA TEMENT 
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(SECOND) OF TORTS § 552(1) for liability, and the liability extends to 

those involved in the transaction that triggered the appraisal. Because of 

that the liability here will be analyzed (a) the Respondents supplied false 

information in the appraisal; (b) the Appellants were involved in the 

transaction that triggered the appraisal, (c) the Respondents were negligent 

in obtaining or communicating the false information, (d) the Appellants 

relied upon the information, (e) the reliance upon the false information 

was reasonable, (f) the false infonnation proximately caused the damage 

to the Appellants. This structure is a mixture of the jury instruction 

approved of in ESCA Corp., with the ruling of Schaaf that is specific to 

negligent real estate appraisal. 

a. Respondents supplied false information in the 

appraisal 

An opinion by an expert carries with it the implied assertion that 

the speaker knows the facts exist to support the opinion and those facts are 

correct. Costa v. Neiman, 123 Wis.2d 410,415,366 N.W.2d 896 (Ct.App. 

1985), cited in Schaaf, 127 Wn.2d at 31. As recognized by the 

Liebergesell court, "[r]eputation for integrity or knowledge of a given 

subject would be worth nothing if its possessor could not assume that 

others would believe in him or accept his opinion." Liebergessell v. Evans, 

93 Wn.2d 881, 891, quoting Gray v. Reeves, 69 Wash. 374, 376-77 
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(1912). It is well established that a negligently obtained or communicated 

opinion will constitute false information for the purposes of a negligent 

misrepresentation claim. Lawyers Title Ins. Corp. v. Baik, 147 Wn.2d 

536, 547 (2002). 

The appraisals state the following: 

In preparing this appraisal, the appraisers 

inspected the subject property and gathered pertinent 

information such as assessed valuation, zoning, and other 

governmental factors; analyzed economic and demographic 

trends; and interviewed individuals familiar with values, 

sales, and trends in the market, including buyers, 

sellers, and brokers. The appraisers then gathered 

information on comparable land sales and analyzed data 

as it applies to the Sales Comparison Approach to 

value. CP 243; 258 (emphasis added). 

There are several false statements in this information. In particular though 

are two of them, (i) the sales history of the property, and (ii) the 

comparable land sales. These two led though the main false information, 

which was that the Rothrock Land was worth $2.00 per square foot or 

$4,500,000 and the RussellRock Land was worth $2.50 per square foot, or 
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$4,250,000. 

i. The sales history was false information 

In the sales history the appraisal states that there is a pending sale 

for the 90 acres of $1,800,000 between Mr. Jeffreys and the groups 

represented by Mr. Rothrock. It goes on to state that the 51 acres, 

Rothrock Land, has been apportioned a value of $775,000 of this, and the 

39 acres, Sundevil Land, is apportioned $1,025,000 of this. CP 654-55; 

646.

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