FILED

OCT 15 2015

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By _____

No. 325687

(Spokane County Superior Court No. 11-2-02470-3)

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROCKROCK GROUP, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, and
RUSSELLROCK GROUP, LLC, a Washington limited liability company

Appellants,

vs.

VALUE LOGIC, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, TERRY
SAVAGE and JANE DOE SAVAGE, a married couple, and JENNY
BENSON and JOHN DOE BENSON,

Respondents/Cross-Appellants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS/CROSS-APPELLANTS

Ross P. White, WSBA #12136
Samuel C. Thilo, WSBA #43221
WITHERSPOON • KELLEY
422 West Riverside, Suite 1100
Spokane, WA 99201

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

Plainly, a real estate appraiser has a duty of care to the person or entity who retained the appraiser. That duty may arise from law if the appraiser is an agent; it may arise from contract if the appraiser is an independent contractor. **We analyze an appraiser's duty of care to third parties under the framework of the law of negligent misrepresentation.**

Schaaf, 127 Wn.2d at 21 (emphasis added). The same analysis of duty and reliance regarding Plaintiffs' negligent misrepresentation claim applies here. Value Logic owed no duty to Plaintiffs as the appraisal limited the scope of use and Plaintiffs were not a third party triggering the appraisals. There was no evidence of reliance on the appraisal prior to closing. The trial court appropriately dismissed Plaintiffs' negligence claim.

D. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Dismissing Plaintiffs' CPA Claim.

1. Washington's CPA Does Not Apply in Actions Against Appraisers for Professional Services Rendered.

Plaintiffs' CPA claim is derived from the professional services performed by Value Logic for the benefit of RiverBank. This is contrary to the purpose of the CPA and is not actionable as a matter of law. "The

term 'trade' as used by the [CPA] includes only the entrepreneurial or commercial aspects of professional services, not the substantive quality of services provided." *Michael v. Mosquera-Lacy*, 165 Wn.2d 595, 602-03 (2009) quoting *Ramos*, 141 Wn. App. at 20. "Claims directed at the competence of and strategies employed by a professional amount to allegations of negligence and are exempt from the [CPA]." *Id.*

Washington has declined to extend CPA liability to the performance of appraisals. In *Ramos*, the plaintiffs alleged the appraiser had failed to identify major defects affecting the value of a residence and breached duties under USPAP. 141 Wn. App. at 16. The court found that the plaintiffs' complaint was "targeted at the alleged inadequacy of the actual appraisal rather than the entrepreneurial aspect of [the appraiser's] business" which amounted to an allegation of negligence, not a CPA claim and dismissed the action. *Id.* at 20-21. Here, Plaintiffs' allegations are derived from the content and value contained in the appraisals.

2. Even if the CPA Applied, Plaintiffs Failed to Establish a Material Issue of Fact as to Each Element.

To prevail in a private CPA action, a plaintiff must establish five distinct elements: (1) unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or commerce; (3) public interest impact; (4) injury to plaintiff in his or her business or property; and (5) causation. *Hangman Ridge Training*

Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 780 (1986). A plaintiff alleging injury under the CPA must establish all five elements. *Id.*

a. Value Logic's Opinion of Value Was Not Unfair or Deceptive.

There is no evidence of an unfair or deceptive practice. First, Value Logic never intended that its appraisal be shared with anyone other than RiverBank. *See supra* Sect. V.B.1. Value Logic did not seek to influence or induce Plaintiffs with regard to the decision to purchase property or contemplate that the appraisals would be used for more than financing purposes by RiverBank.⁹ Second, the opinion of value itself could not be "false," as it was an *opinion*, not a stated fact. An opinion can be wrong, i.e., negligent, but it cannot be false. The test to determine whether a representation pertains to an existing fact or is a mere expression of opinion is set forth by the court in *Shook v. Scott*:

Where the fulfillment or satisfaction of the thing represented depends upon a promised performance of a future act, or upon the occurrence of a future event, or upon particular future use, or future requirements of the representee, then the representation is not of an existing fact.

56 Wn.2d 351, 356 (1960). Plaintiffs argue that they were injured because they could not flip the property at the appraised value. Value Logic did

⁹ It makes little sense that Plaintiffs could claim that allegedly inflated appraisals constituted an unfair or deceptive practice when members failed to review the appraisal reports and ignored the assumptions and limiting conditions.

the appraisal to assist the bank in financing an initial sale, not to guarantee the sales price for the Plaintiffs' future "flip" of the parcels.

b. The Trade and Commerce Element Does Not Apply.

As set forth above, the quality of the professional services performed by Value Logic cannot establish a cause of action under the CPA. *See Michael*, 165 Wn.2d at 602-03; *see also Wright v. Jeckle*, 104 Wn. App. 478, 485 (2001) (entrepreneurial aspects do not include a doctor's skills in examining, diagnosing, treating, or caring for a patient). At the trial level, the only evidence Plaintiffs argued satisfied the trade and commerce element was the deposition testimony of Plaintiffs' member Dave Largent. Mr. Largent claims to have visited the parcels in September (before Plaintiffs existed) and overheard Greg Jeffreys on a cell phone call. The trial court properly declined to consider this inadmissible evidence. Now, on appeal, Plaintiffs argue four new "points" without foundation, evidence, and based on pure supposition and speculation.

- Mr. Largent's testimony of an alleged call is inadmissible.

Mr. Largent claims to have overheard Greg Jeffreys on a phone call¹⁰ where he suggested Value Logic be hired as the appraisers, nothing

¹⁰ Facts opposing summary judgment must be made on personal knowledge, be admissible in evidence, and show that the declarant of such facts is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. *Lane v. Harborview Med. Ctr.*, 154 Wn. App. 279, 286-87 (2010) ("A plaintiff may not defeat summary judgment by relating conclusions, allegations, or speculations.")

more. Jeffreys is not a party opponent and Mr. Largent's recollection of Jeffreys' statements is inadmissible as hearsay and speculation. Mr. Largent does not know who Jeffreys was speaking with or that person's authority. (CP 681, ln. 15-19) None of the statements attributed to Value Logic were made by anyone associated with Value Logic. (CP 682, ln. 12-19) There is no testimony from RiverBank that they relied on a phone call from Jeffreys or that Jenny Benson made any phone call to solicit business for Value Logic. Plaintiffs' entire CPA claim is based on Mr. Largent overhearing Jeffreys on the phone. His testimony is blatant hearsay and inadmissible as evidence.¹¹

- Jenny Benson visited sites 3 days after Sundevil Development received rights and one day prior to engagement letter.

It is unclear what Plaintiffs are attempting to infer. Ms. Benson testified that she had received a phone call from RiverBank to visit the subject matter sites and the engagement letter came after. (CP 209) It is further undisputed that Ms. Benson never received information about Sundevil Development's rights to buy the property, just that RiverBank

¹¹ The trial court exposed the issue with Plaintiffs' only evidence as to a CPA claim at oral argument. The Court: "How is this going to be admissible if we have a trial? I don't see how you get it in. Somebody hears somebody else making a phone call to somebody on the other end of the phone." Mr. Casey: "Okay, under hearsay?" The Court: "Yes." Mr. Casey: "I think that does become difficult. I think what would come in, though, is that all the same, there was a phone call, too." The Court: "How does the person overhearing it know who the person IS on the other end?" Mr. Casey: "I guess that's where we need more testimony, Your Honor, and I probably should have done a 56(f) request based on that." The Court: "You see the difficulty." *Verbatim Report*, p. 119.

had been approached about financing a sale of the property. The rights Sundevil Development received were never recorded in the public record.

- Prospectus expected property to appraise at \$2.00 a square foot and the appraisal came in at \$2.00 square foot.

Again, it is unclear what Plaintiffs are asking the Court to infer or speculate about. The Prospectus, which does not have an identified author, was distributed to some of the members, and its purpose was apparently to induce certain individuals to join the yet to be formed LLCs. It was not reviewed, drafted, or distributed by Value Logic.

- Sales history and comparison allegedly inaccurate.

Plaintiffs offer no evidentiary support for this contention, nor do they distinguish this apparent inference from the professional services exception to the CPA. It is undisputed that Plaintiffs' manager never actually read the appraisals or even knew their amounts. Whether or not the sales history and comparisons were accurate did not affect Plaintiffs' transactions. Plaintiffs' unsupported inference goes to professional services performed which is not actionable under the CPA.

- Terry Savage testified that he once changed an appraisal.

Plaintiffs again attempt to mislead the Court. Mr. Savage testified that appraisals could be changed from time to time if new, verifiable information was provided. (CP 727) No such conversation occurred in

this case, and it is inappropriate to consider mischaracterized information from a totally unrelated appraisal.

c. Plaintiffs Cannot Satisfy the Public Interest Element.

Plaintiffs are required to show that their lawsuit would serve the public interest. *Michael*, 165 Wn.2d at 605 citing *Lightfoot v. MacDonald*, 86 Wn.2d 331 (1976). "The purpose of the public interest requirement is to limit actions under the Act to those which are the consequence of a generalized course of conduct by a seller, and to exclude actions arising from **single transactional disputes.**" *Eastlake Const. Co., Inc. v. Hess*, 102 Wn.2d 30, 51 (1984)(emphasis added). For private disputes, "it may be more difficult to show that the public has an interest in the subject matter." *Hangman Ridge*, 105 Wn.2d at 790. A court evaluates four factors to determine whether or not the public has an interest in private disputes, none of which are dispositive nor must all factors be present. *Id.* at 791. The factors are:

- 1) whether the alleged acts were committed in the course of defendant's business;
- 2) whether the defendant advertised to the public in general;
- 3) whether the defendant actively solicited this particular plaintiff, indicating potential solicitation of others;
- 4) whether the plaintiff and defendant have unequal bargaining positions. *Id.*

Michael, 165 Wn.2d at 605 citing *Hangman Ridge*, 105 Wn.2d at 790. It is undisputed Value Logic was acting in its course of business by preparing the appraisals. However, the other factors are absent entirely:

- There is no evidence that Value Logic advertised to the general public with regard to financing appraisals for land purchases in Spokane's West Plains. Value Logic was on a list prepared by banks of approved appraisers. (CP 846) RiverBank contacted Value Logic, not the other way around, and it was only RiverBank who decided to retain an appraiser.

- There is no evidence that Value Logic solicited Plaintiffs. In fact, *neither Plaintiff existed at the time that Value Logic was retained.* Again, if Plaintiffs' individual members felt that they were personally solicited by Value Logic, these would be individual claims that they should have asserted. Instead, only Plaintiffs have asserted claims and neither entity existed when Value Logic was retained.

- There was no bargaining position between the parties. RiverBank and Value Logic independently negotiated a flat fee for each of the appraisals. Plaintiffs had no participation or input into the transaction between RiverBank and Value Logic.

Plaintiffs cannot show that the public has any interest in this matter where the dispute centers on Value Logic's performance of an appraisal for RiverBank. An LLC member's indirect reliance does not establish a nexus for a CPA claim and the trial court properly dismissed the claim.

E. Plaintiffs' Constitutional Claim Lacks Merit

1. The "Constitutional" Claim Is Unnecessarily Raised on Appeal.

For the first time on appeal, Plaintiffs argue that the burden of proof for appraiser negligence should be based on a "preponderance of the evidence" standard rather than the "clear, cogent, and convincing" evidentiary standard which exists for negligent misrepresentation claims. RAP 2.5(a) provides that an "appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." "On review of an order granting or denying a motion for summary judgment the **appellate court will consider only evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court.**" RAP 9.12 (emphasis added). "Naked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." *Crystal Ridge Homeowners Ass'n v. City of Bothell*, _ Wn.2d _, 2015 WL 600640, at *6 (Feb. 12, 2015)(internal citations omitted)("Because the City failed to raise [the constitutional] issue below, we decline to address it now.") Plaintiffs' failure to raise the issue at the trial court level should preclude the "constitutional" issue's consideration.

Further, the trial court arrived at the legal conclusion that no duty was owed to Plaintiffs and no reliance existed because Plaintiffs' manager unequivocally stated that he did not rely on the appraisals. Plaintiffs failed to satisfy the *prima facie* elements of the misrepresentation and negligence

claims. Plaintiffs' new theory would not disrupt the trial court's ruling.

2. The Current Evidentiary Standard Is Appropriate Based on the Nature of Plaintiffs' Claim Against Real Estate Appraisers.

Even if the Court were to consider Plaintiffs' new argument on appeal, the argument fails. As in their claim of negligent misrepresentation, Plaintiffs would also have to show justifiable reliance in support of their claim for pure negligence. "We analyze an appraiser's duty of care to third parties under the framework of the law of negligent misrepresentation." *Schaaf*, 127 Wn.2d at 21. If Plaintiffs did not rely on the appraisal, then any of the underlying alleged defects contained within the appraisal could not have influenced their decision to purchase the property. Plaintiffs have not distinguished how their negligent misrepresentation claim differs from their negligence claim. *Ramos* squarely addresses this issue. "The Ramoses' claim fails under the negligent misrepresentation analysis detailed in *Schaaf*. And the claim would fare no better under a pure negligence analysis, **because without proof of reliance there is no basis upon which to find that any breach of duty** by Arnold proximately caused their damages." *Ramos*, 141 Wn. App. at 19 (emphasis added). Why should the evidentiary standard as to reliance be lessened for a third party under a claim of negligence versus as a negligent misrepresentation when the considerations are the same?

Plaintiffs are asking for a lower burden of proof on the same element of reliance in order to show negligence. Regardless of the burden of proof, Plaintiffs failed to satisfy the requisite elements of a *prima facie* case; as a matter of law, Value Logic owed Plaintiffs no duty and there was no evidence that any individual authorized agent relied on the appraisals.

F. The Trial Court Erred in Not Dismissing Plaintiffs' Complaint Due to the Statute of Limitations

Value Logic asserts that the trial court erred in not finding that Plaintiffs' claims were barred by the statute of limitations. In a separate lawsuit against Greg Jeffreys and through testimony in this action, Plaintiffs' members have testified that they were injured because underlying "sham" transactions related to sales of the Rothrock and Sundevil Lands were not presented at closing or in the appraisals. (CP 422; 851) It is undisputed that Plaintiffs' manager Mr. Johnson had this information (CP 320-21; 399-401), the transactions were documented in the closing documents provided to all members (*Id.*; CP 462-63), and Eric Sachtjen knew of the "sham" transactions as he signed off on closing documents containing the pertinent information. *Id.* In fact, Plaintiffs sued Mr. Sachtjen in this action for failing to disclose this material information to them, including a Broker's Price Opinion. (CP 168; 182-83; 192-94) Both the separate Broker's Price Opinion and the underlying purchase and

sale agreements were in Mr. Sachtjen's possession prior to closing. (CP 168; 182-83) The material facts of Plaintiffs' claims were known by Mr. Sachtjen and were disclosed to Plaintiffs' manager at the time of closing on the property over four years before Plaintiffs filed their suit against Value Logic. The knowledge of the manager and the attorney are imputed to the client-entity. Plaintiffs' claims against Value Logic are time-barred.

1. The Statute of Limitations Expired as to All Claims.

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